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Dear Mr. Romano: 
 
Pursuant to our discussion on January 13, 2015, the undersigned engineer has developed a 
concept for remediation of the Existing Bulkhead, which we feel will be considerable less costly 
than complete demolition and reconstruction, while maintaining a watermark within about one 
foot of existing. 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
I reviewed the June 12, 2014 Canal Corp Terminal Wall Replacement Estimate of $13M and the 
“replacement concept” represented therein, which was taken from a recent Canal Project for 
Lock E-9, Upper Approach Wall.  As we discussed, this solution is way outside of the $2.5M to 
$4M range of possible grant and funding money that may be available for the current Harbor 
Point Redevelopment CM#2 project. 
 
It is important to point out that the existing distressed concrete and wooden structure is 100 years 
old and any dependence on any elements of the existing structure for the 
remediation/redevelopment will involve recognition and acceptance of some risks and 
uncertainties.   These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to, sudden catastrophic 
collapse, local or general settlements, and/or sudden sinkhole development.  These risks are 
inherent in the existing structure and current condition.  The existing Bulkhead Wall is an 8 foot 
tall wall of deteriorated concrete, built on a submerged horizontal wooden platform supported by 
timber piles about 10 feet above the bottom of the harbor.  The wall varies in width from about 
2.5 feet at top to 6 feet at base and has 3 rows of piles spaced at 4.25 feet apart along its 1300 
feet length.  The wooden platform is constructed of 12x12 or 12x8 timber framing and 4 inch 
thick wood planking.  The platform is about 16 feet wide.  It is just water and piles under the 
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platform structure.  Please refer to the attached January 1914, Final Estimate – Dock Alteration 
No. 1 Drawing for more information on what was planned to be built.  It should be noted that the 
existing Dock and Wall does not conform exactly to this drawing. For example, the existing 
structure has about 100 piles less than what is shown in the 1914 Drawing. 
 
CME’s focus in this effort has been to present a solution that preserves the real estate (i.e. does 
not give up land to water); reduces the risk of sudden catastrophic collapse; reduces the risk of 
significant or very costly change orders during the construction by reducing the design concept’s 
dependence on existing load bearing elements; and minimizing Total Project Cost. 
 
2.0 CONCEPTS 
 
CME’s first concept studied was to install a temporary sheetpile cofferdam, lower the water, 
demolish the existing concrete wall, remove the soil above the submerged wooden platform 
deck, and remove the deck and timber framing.  Then inspect the piles and drive intermediate 
piles, as-needed.  Reconstruct the wood deck and a new concrete bulkhead, backfill and 
pave/surface, and then remove the cofferdam. 
 
CME’s second concept studied was to install a permanent light gauge sheetpile cofferdam wall, 
demolish a portion of existing concrete wall, partially dewater, and use Cellular Controlled 
Density Fill (CCDF) to fill the entire void space between the light gauge sheetpile wall and land 
under the deck.  Install waler and deadman tiebacks for wall, backfill and pave/surface. 
 
CME’s second concept is presented on the attached sketch and is intended for discussion 
purposes.  This concept is about 50% less costly than the first concept and, since the new 
Bulkhead Wall will be completely backfilled to the mudline, represents a much lower risk 
alternative by eliminating the sudden collapse and sinkhole risks. 
 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Concept Sketch be considered and discussed.  If no other significantly 
different concepts are envisioned that capture the attributes desired, then Design Development of 
the concept should commence. 
 
Please direct all inquiries and discussion to the undersigned engineer. 
  
Respectfully submitted, 
CME Associates, Inc. 
 
 
Marcus A. Rotundo, P.E. 
Sr. Geotechnical Engineer 
 
MAR/jll 
 
Attachment Listing: 1914 Final Estimate Dock Alteration No. 1, Utica Terminal (1 of 1) 
   Concept Sketch (1 of 1) 
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Dear Mr. Romano: 
 
At your request, the undersigned engineer evaluated the NYSCC Structure Inspection Report 
STRIN: 400T54A of September 19, 2008 in respect to reliance on and re-use of any of the 
structure components. 
 
I noted some apparent discrepancies between the January 1914 Final Estimate Dock Alteration 
No. 1 Documents and the Inspection Report of 2008.  They are: 
 

 The wood triple-lap sheeting may not exist or was not installed in 1914. 
 The rip-rap may only be a few feet thick and laid on an earth slope. 
 The rip-rap slope angle is likely steeper than shown on the 1914 Drawing. 
 The piles are 4.25 feet on-center along the lines parallel with the existing concrete wall, 

not 4 feet on-center as shown on 1914 Drawing. 
 One of the two 8x10 timbers to serve as keyways for the concrete wall, may be located at 

the outside face toe of Wall. 
 
I catalogued the underwater inspection notes for the 4 rows of piles into five categories which are 
indicators of structural integrity impairment.  They are: 
 

L – Cross Section Loss of 10% or more 
D – Displaced Horizontally 
X – No contact pile to Pile Cap or at least 75% bearing impaired 
x – Bearing impaired 50% to 75% 
S – Pile Split or Pile Cap Crushed/Split 
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The inspection Starts at about station 0+60 and Ends at station 12+96 for 304 Rows of four 
vertical piles each for 1216 piles total.  The Batter Piles are not mentioned in the Inspection 
Report. 
 
My Findings are presented in Table 1.  Row 1 is at the outboard toe of existing Bulkhead Wall. 
 
Table 1:  Summary of Five Structural Defects of Piles 
ROW 1 2 3 4 Line 

Totals Defect 
L 
D 
X 
x 
S 

35 
42 
8 
30 
46 

12 
74 
22 
20 
24 

9 
59 
29 
19 
20 

4 
24 
32 
5 
8 

60 
199 
91 
74 
98 

TOTALS 161 152 136 73 522 
Cum. Total 161 313 449 522 522 
Cum. % 31% 60% 96% 100% 100% 

 
We have attached the Annotated Inspection Report showing the location of each Defect, among 
other notations. 
 
Because Pile Rows 1, 2 and 3 support the existing wall with 912 piles and since 49% (449 piles) 
exhibited significant defects in 2008, CME has concluded that it is not prudent to proceed with 
any design which relies on utilizing the existing timber piles for structural support.  In our 
professional opinion, this Bulkhead and submerged wooded platform have reached the end of 
their useful life. 
 
At this date, one must understand that failure of the wall and/or platform could occur at any time.  
Failure may be manifested by sudden collapse, sinkhole, slide into Harbor, and progressive 
settlement of surfaces on, near and/or around the structure. 
 
Please contact the undersigned with any questions that you may have. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
CME Associates, Inc. 
 
 
Marcus A. Rotundo, P.E. 
Sr. Geotechnical Engineer 
 
MAR/jll 
 
Attachment Listing: Annotated Structure Inspection Report (34 pages) 
   Final Estimate January 1914, p. 19 (1 page) 








































































